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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

OHAN KARAGOZIAN,
Plaintiff,

V. CASENO. 3:13-cv-1028VAB)
LUXOTTICA RETAIL

NORTH AMERICA,
Defendant.

RULING ON THE DEFENDANT'S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff, Ohan Karagoziamas sued his former employer, Luxottica Retail North
America (“Luxoticca”), alleging that he wasrminated in retaliation for engaging in
certain kinds of protected speech. Am. ContpCF No. 11. First, helaims that he was
terminated for complaining about unlawfuliatty to his supervisors, the Connecticut
Department of Public Health, and the Boardgaminers for Optometrists in violation of
Connecticut’s whistleblower statute, Ceaticut General Statutes section 31-51m.
Compl.at Count One, ECF No. 11. Secondaleges that he was terminated for
engaging in speech on matters of public comgeotected by the 5t Amendment of the
U.S. Constitution and sections 3, 4, and 1thefConnecticut Cofigution, in violation
of Connecticut General Stdes section 31-51qg. Compk Count Two, ECF No. 11. To
address these alleged violations of law, Klaragozian seeks compensatory and punitive
damages, reinstatement to his former posjtas well as costs and attorney’s felels at
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Luxoticca has moved for summary judgmentboth of his claims. Def.’s Mot.
for Summ. J., ECF No. 46. For the reasons that follow, the motGRANTED IN
PART andDENIED IN PART .

l. STATEMENT OF FACTS'

Luxoticca hired Mr. Karagozian to work adicensed optician at a Sears Optical
store in Waterford, Connecticut in Septemd@12. Def.’s Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. {1,
ECF No. 48. In this position, he filled poegptions for eyeglasses, and fitted, sold, and
repaired eyeglassdsl. 4. He was supervised by the store’s manager, Kira Arroyo, who
in turn was supervised by Regional Sales Manager Amy Kaufidafif2, 6.

While employed by Luxoticca, Mr. Karagan’'s complained about two aspects
of its business that form the basis for this lawsuit. First, he complained both internally
and to the Connecticut Department of Publealth that the storeas operating with an
expired permit. Second, he complainethi®supervisors and the Board of Examiners
for Optometrists that he was asked to perf duties that were illegal for a licensed
optician to perform under Connecticut law.

A. Mr. Karagozian’'s Complaints About the Expired Permit

On September 24, 2012, Mr. Karagozian tdisl Arroyo that the optical permit
posted in the store hadpsed on September 1, 201R1. 15-6; Karagozian Dep. 44:13-
45:1. He was concerned about the permit bezde understood that he could have his
license revoked and be sent to jail for watkin a store with an expired permit. Def.’s

Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmf}9. Under Connecticut Gener8tatutes section 20-150(a),

! These facts are based on a review of the pleadings) Rule 56(a) Statements, and any responses, as
well as exhibits filed by both parties accompanying the Motion for Summary Judgment and associated
briefing. Unless noted otherwise, facts described in this section are undisputed oo8iegoparty has

not pointed to any contradictory evidence in the record.



“optical glasses or kindred qulucts or other instrumentsaa vision” may only be sold

in a “registered optical establishment.” Tgister, a store “may apply to the Department
of Public Health” for “an optical sellingermit.” Conn. Gen. Stat. §20-151(a). The
permit “shall be conspicuously podtan the store that holds itd. A violation of this
permit requirement is an unfair tegractice. Conn. Gen. Stat. 820-150(c).

In response to Mr. Karagozian’'s complaabout the expired permit, Ms. Arroyo
followed up with Ms. Kaufman, who contactedxoticca’s legal department. Def.’s
Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmf}{6-7. The legal department indicated that Luxoticca had
applied to renew the permit and would reachtowtetermine the status of that renewal.
Id. 7.

Ms. Arroyo did not convey to Mr. Kagazian the actions she took to follow up
on his concerns. He asked Ms. Arroyo alibatstatus of the permit “a week or two”
after his initial inquiry, and both sides agree that she told him, in vague terms, that
Luxoticca was “working on it.”ld. 118, 12. Ms. Kaufman alsmntacted him by phone
at an unknown later date and told him ttet company would takeare of the issueld.
110.

Mr. Karagozian continued to ask about fhermit because he was not sure what
precisely the company was doitggresolve the situationd. Y 12-13see also
Karagozian Dep. 47:8-17, 70:2-17. Ountober 11, 2012, Mr. Karagozian sent a
reminder e-mail to Ms. Arroyo about the pernilief.’s Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 14. On
November 19 and November 20, 2012, Mr. Karagozian followed up again on the status

of the permit by e-mail with Ms. Arroyo and Ms. Kaufmdd. 7115-16.



Luxoticca claims that, on Novemb28, 2012, Ms. Kaufman explained to Mr.
Karagozian that the company had apptedenew the permit and that the legal
department was in the process of detemngirthe status of that applicatioid. 17;
Kaufman Decl. 13. Both sides also agtrest Mr. Karagozian sent an e-mail to Ms.
Kaufman on November 26, 2012 indicating thatwas glad she “clarified everything
today” and apologizing for “being overly conned for no apparent reason.” Def.’s Ex.
6, E-mail dated 11/26/2012. In the e-mail Mrr&gozian also noted that “[t]he idea that
the valid permit itself was not on display & you said, a matter | shouldn’t be
concerned about and that thisisnatter that you're handlingld.

Mr. Karagozian denies thahyone told him about theqeest for renewal. Pl.’s
Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 17, ECF No. 50#2e testified that he sent the e-mail on
November 26, 2012 because he feared he wosaklhis job but also that its contents
were accurate. Karagozian Dep. 50:19-5H2.indicates that the tone of his
conversations with Ms. Kaufman about thenpie was “agitated” anthat her tone “led
him to believe” that he would lose his jothié continued to comglaabout the permit.
Pl.’s Counterstmt. 192-6, ECF No. 50-2; Kgwaian Dep. 46:16-47:3. He also contends
that Ms. Arroyo told him at some unknown dafeer his meeting with Ms. Kaufman that
he would be fired if heantinued to “bother” superviss about the permit. Pl.’s
Counterstmt{5; Karagozian Dep. 47:5-7, 67:17-68:8. Luxoticca has denied that Ms.
Arroyo made this statement but has not introduced any evidencatindithat it did not
happen.

On November 26, 2012, the same dahiasneeting with Ms. Kaufman, Mr.

Karagozian also sent an e-mail to then@ecticut Department of Public Health



expressing concerns about the permitf.’Béocal Rule 56(a)l Stmt. 120; PI.’s
Counterstmt. §7; Karagozian Dep. 64:11165The store received the renewed permit
and began displaying it in mid-January 20T#f.’s Local Rule 56(a)1l Stmt. 21.

B. Mr. Karagozian’s Complaints About Inappropriate Duties

Mr. Karagozian also claims that Luxoticeguired him to act as an assistant to
the licensed optometrist at its s#pm violation of state lawld. §22-23; Pl.’s
Counterstmt. 10; Karagozian Dep. 7872814. The allegedly inappropriate duties
included ringing up optometric fees, answgrincoming calls to schedule appointments
with the doctor, responding to insurance inquiries, and receiving and collecting
information from patients before their optetric exams. Karagozian Dep. 80:21-81:4,
Def.’s Ex. 9, Letter dated 3/27/2013. Mr. Karaigmozalso testified that he was asked to
help a doctor put contact leessin a patient’s eyes Beptember 2012, which he also
believed was not an appropriate dutyddrcensed optician under Connecticut law.
Karagozian Dep. 85:1-10.

Mr. Karagozian contendsdhrequiring him to perform these tasks violated a
Consent Order prohibiting licensed opticidosict as “optometric assistants” under
Connecticut General Statutes section 20-138afh’s Ex. 3, Consent Order at 2-3.
Section 20-138a prohibits the practice ofampétry without a license but allows for the
delegation of “services” to “aained optometric assiant” or “an optometric technician,”
so long as those serviceg grerformed under the licenseptometrist’s supervision.
Conn. Gen. Stat. §20-138a(a).vidlation of this law is purshable as a class D felony.

Conn. Gen. Stag20-138a(b).



Mr. Karagozian complained in Septker and October 2012 about these work
assignments to both Ms. Arroyo and Maufman. Pl.’s Counterstmt. {[1see alsdl.’s
Exs. 6, 7, E-mails dated 10/11/2012 ar2D@2012; Karagozian Dep. 84:6-13. Mr.
Karagozian also complained externally to the Board of Examiners for Optometrists about
the work he performed on March 27, 2013.f.BeEx. 9, Letter dated 3/27/2013. In
addition, he testified that he was concerttet performing thesduties could jeopardize
his license but that he performed them because he “want[ed] to get a paycheck.”
Karagozian Dep. 86:11-87:1.

C. Luxoticca’s Complaints aboutMr. Karagozian’s Performance

Luxoticca had three complaints about Mr.r&gozian’s performance. First, while
employed by Luxoticca, Mr. Karagozian remdvt&e licenses of two other opticians that
were hanging on the store’s wall in late October or early November 2012. Def.’s Local
Rule 56(a)l Stmt. 125. Both sides agree dipaitians are legallyequired to display
their licenses in the store in which they wot#. 24. They also bbtagree that the
opticians whose licenses haglem removed were working in the store at the time and
were upset about the rewal of their licensesld. 126; Karagozian Dep. 55:22-56:7

Mr. Karagozian contends that he remoteel licenses because he believed the
associates did not work at the store and that he placed them in an envelope by the cash
register. Pl.’s Counterstmt. 18; KaragoziarpDe&2:1-16. He also claims that he told
Ms. Arroyo he was doing so and tistie had no objection. Pl.’s Counterstfj&.

Luxoticca claims that Mr. Karagozian tdidis. Kaufman that he had thrown the
licenses away and that he had done so because he did not know whether the opticians

worked at the store. Def.’s Local R@6(a)l Stmt. §28. Ms. Kaufman contends that



Mr. Karagozian admitted throwing the permits away in a meeting she had with him at the
end of December 2012, but Mr. Karagozian denies making this admission at any time.
Karagozian Dep. 51:10-12, 55:8-8B2:12-63:2; Kaufman Decf[17; PIl.’s Local Rule
56(a)2 Stmt. 728.

Luxoticca also claims that custorseromplained about Mr. Karagozian on
several occasions during his employment. Def.’s Local Rule 56(a) Stmt. {128e32;
alsoDef.’s Ex. 8, Customer Complaints. Toemplaints include allegations that Mr.
Karagozian indicated that the offer a custoamked about was only for “welfare people”
and that he charged the same custonresxtras without asking whether she wanted
them. Def.’s Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. §30.p&eately, another customer complained that
Mr. Karagozian did not offer him assistarpremptly, asked him whether a dog chewed
the temple tips of his glasses, and failed to replace the templédif&1. Mr.

Karagozian testified that he was not awaréhee complaints but does not deny that the
events underlying them occurred. Pl.’schbRule 56(a)1 Stmt. 130-32; Karagozian
Dep. 36:1-9.

Finally, Ms. Kaufman indicais that, “[o]n several occasions,” Mr. Karagozian
violated Luxoticca policy by “not completing Perfect Pair Worksheets when selling
glasses to customers and not filling out yladconciliation envelopes for the Store.”
Kaufman Decl. 124. In one instance, MsuKaan claims that Mr. Karagozian’s failure
to fill out the proper worksheet resulted in a customer paying $160 less than he should
have. Id. Mr. Karagozian does not specifically contest that he filled out forms
improperly. He also testified that Ms. Arrotald him once that he should “follow” the

Perfect Pair WorksheeKaragozian Dep. 101:9-18.



D. Mr. Karagozian’s Termination

Luxoticca terminated Mr. Karagozian &ebruary 1, 2013. Def.’s Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 133. During the termination meetinLuxoticca contends that Ms.
Kaufman and Ms. Arroyo handed Mr. Karagora written Corrective Action Record,
which explained that he was being térated for violating a company policy, by
removing and destroying the other optici@enses, for acting in an unprofessional
manner toward his supervisors, and because customers had complained abtiit him.
134. Both sides agree that he was giverCibweective Action Recordt this meeting.
Def.’s Ex. 8, Corrective Action Recordtdd 2/1/2013; Karagoan Dep. 94:15-95:15.
The Corrective Action Record indicates that Karagozian was terminated for throwing
away the licenses of his colleagues, fglto use company forms properly, receiving six
customer complaints, and acting in an ungssfonal manner towards his supervisors.
Def.’s Ex. 8, Corrective Action Record.

Ms. Kaufman has denied that the terntima decision was related in any way to
Mr. Karagozian's complaints. Kaufman DefR8. Mr. Karagozian contends that Ms.
Kaufman and Ms. Arroyo merely told him tHa was being terminated, without orally
providing reasons, and asked him to readGlorrective Action Plan. Karagozian 94:18-

95:15, 96:1-5. He testified that he did not belietreat he ever acted inappropriately at

2 Mr. Karagozian contends that Luxoticca takes thétipasthat he voluntarily I its employment. Pl.’s
Counterstmt. 12. In making this claim, he relies on a Notice of Potential Liability for Unemployment
Benefits that Luxoticcéiled. Pl.’s Ex. 4, Noticef Potential Liability dated 29/2014. However, all of

the other evidence in the record indicates that Mraf@zian was terminated. Indeed, Luxoticca explains
that the representation made in the Notice of Potdrithllity was a mistake that was clarified later in the
proceeding. Mot. to Strike 1-2, ECF No. 52 alsdecision of Appeals Referee at 3, ECF No. 57.

3 Mr. Karagozian denies the paragraphs in which fadat asserts that he was terminated. Pl.’s Local
Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1129, 34 (citing Karagozian Dep. 36, 99-101). However, the passagespafditi®oa
testimony that he cites in support of these denials do not controvert that he was terminatel Mindee
Karagozian's own deposition testimony indicates that he understood that he was terminated and that he was
given a document, the Corrective Action Plan, that provided reasons for that termination.zidarBgp.
94:15-95:15, 96:1-5.



work and that he did not agree with tleasons provided for his termination. Karagozian
Dep. 96:8-22, 100:8-16. In support of his posit he refers to a report filed by Ms.
Kaufman in which he claims she agreedtthis behavior haldeen appropriate.
Karagozian Dep. 96:8-22. The Court hasnegtived a copy of any such report.

Mr. Karagozian also testified that del not raise any objections to his
termination at the meeting, because hemditiwant to discuss “something that was
already predetermined.fd. 100:21-101:2.

I. STANDARD

To grant a motion for summary judgmeng Gourt must determine that there are
no genuine issues of material fact inpdite and that the moving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56fajact is “material” if it “might affect
the outcome of the suihder the governing law.Bouboulis v. Transp. Workers Union
of Am.,442 F.3d 55, 59 (2d Cir. 2006) (quotiAgderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ine&77 U.S.
242, 248 (1986)). A dispute regarding a matedat fs “genuine if the evidence is such
that a reasonable jugould return a verdict for the nonmoving partyilliams v. Utica
Coll. of Syracuse Univ453 F.3d 112, 116 (2d Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted). In assessing a summaigygment motion, the Court must resolve all
ambiguities, including credibility questions, athéhw all inferences from the record as a
whole in favor of the non-moving partysee Kaytor v. Elec. Boat CorpQ9 F.3d 537,

546 (2d Cir. 2010) (citations omitted).

Actions brought under section 31-51m aobject to the burden-shifting analysis

set out inlMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gree#11 U.S. 792 (1973)McClain v. Pfizer,

Inc.,692 F. Supp. 2d 229, 238 (D. Conn. 20@®ation omitted)see also LaFond.



Gen. Physics Servs. Corp0 F.3d 165, 172 (2d Cir. 1995) (finding no error in applying
“federal employment discrimination standatdsa claim of retaliatory discharge under
31-51m(b)” because Connecticut courts wouferéo these principles “in the absence of
authority to the contrary”). Undéhis framework, the plaintiff has tltee minimisburden
of establishing @rima faciecase by demonstrating treaggenuine question of material
fact exists with respect to af the elements of his clainL.afond,50 F.3d at 173
(citation omitted).

Once a plaintiff has made out the basic eets of his case, the burden shifts to
the defendant to produce egitte, which, if true, “woulghermitthe conclusion that
there was a [non-retaliatory] reason for the adverse actitoh.dt 174 (emphasis and
alteration in original) (quotingallo v. Prudential Residwial Servs., Ltd. P’ship22
F.3d 1219, 1226 (2d Cir. 1994)). If the defendamties this burden, a case may still
survive summary judgment if the plaintiff prodiscevidence that raises an inference that
the defendant’s non-retaliatorgason is pretextld. (citation omitted)see also Reed v.
A.W. Lawrence & Co., Inc95 F.3d 1170, 1181 (2d Cir. 1996) (citation omitted) (under
42 U.S.C. §2000e-3(a) or Title VII).

Section 31-51q claims are subjecttsimilar burden-shifting paradigngee
Fasoli v. City of Stamford4 F. Supp. 3d 285, 296 (D. Conn. 2014) (noting that although
“section 31-51q is not expressly referredrtahe case law as falling under the
McDonnell Douglasubric, [the analysis] is essentially the same.”) (citatusick v.
Erie Cnty. Water AuthZ757 F.3d 31, 47 (2d Cir. 2014)). Once a plaintiff has met his
burden on th@rima faciecase, a defendant may avoid liability by showing, by a

preponderance of the evidence, that it wichdve taken the same adverse employment
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action even in the absence of protected spektiat 296 n.10 (citingvatusick,757 F.3d
at 47).

II. DISCUSSION

Mr. Karagozian claims that his compits about the expired permit and the
allegedly improper duties he was asked togrernfto assist the optometrist qualify as
protected speech under both sections 31-51m and 31-51g. He argues that both of these
issues that he complained about were viohs of Connecticut law. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 2,

ECF No. 50. He also contends that his supervisors threatened, implicitly and explicitly,
that he would be fired if he continued to compldit. at 2-3.

Luxoticca denies that its decision to temate Mr. Karagozian was related in any
way to his complaints, KaufmeDecl. 28, and argues thdt. Karagozian’s two claims
should be dismissed for any of three reasdhsst, Mr. Karagozian did not engage in
speech or conduct protected under eitheutgatDef.’s Br. 4-6, 7-10, ECF No. 47.
Second, there is no evidence of a causal connection between the alleged statutorily
protected activity and his terminatiotd. at 6-7, 10. Finally, it had legitimate reasons
for terminating Mr. Karagozian that were not a pretext for retaliationat 11-14.

The Court will analyze each of Mr. Karagozian’s claims in turn.

A. Retaliation for Reporting a Sugected Violation of Law
(Count One — Section 31-51m)

Connecticut General Statutes section 31-ptahibits the discharge or discipline
of an employee because he “reports, verb@ily writing, a vioation or a suspected
violation of any state or teral law or regulation or any municipal ordinance or
regulation to a public body.Conn. Gen. Stat. 831-51m(b). Public body is defined as

any public or federal agency or employee ¢loér Conn. Gen. Stat. 831-51m(a)(4). An

11



employee wronged under this statute may bamgvil action seeking “reinstatement of
his previous job, payment of back wages aeestablishment of employee benefits to
which he would have otherwise beernited.” Conn. Gen. Stat. 831-51m(c). The
employee may also seek costs and attorney’s fees.

To establish g@rima faciecase of retaliation under section 31-51m, Mr.
Karagozian must show that arggne issue of material fact exists on all of the following
elements: (1) he engagedprotected activity as defined by section 31-51m, (2) he was
subsequently terminated, and (3) there was a causal connecti@ebéiw participation
in the protected activity and his dischargenone v. Enfield79 Conn. App. 501, 507
(2003),cert. denied266 Conn. 932 (2003) (citations omittedgFond,50 F.3d at 173
(citations omitted)Fasoli,64 F. Supp. 3d at 296 (noting the causation standard is
“substantial motivating factor’) (quotinyinci v. Quagliani889 F. Supp. 2d 348, 354
(D. Conn. 2012). As mentioned above, if.Miaragozian meets this initial burden,
Luxoticca must produce evidence of a “legitimaton-retaliatory reason” for terminating
him. LaFond,50 F.3dat 174 (citation omitted). To survive summary judgment, Mr.
Karagozian then must show that a reasanabybr could believe that Luxoticca’s non-
retaliatory reason was pretext. (citation omitted).

Mr. Karagozian has made two complaititat form the basis for his section 31-
51m claim. To the extent his claim is baga his complaints about the additional duties
he was asked to perform, which he belawere improper for a licensed optician under
Connecticut law, it cannaurvive summary judgment. Mr. Karagozian has not
demonstrated that he complained tgalilic body” before he was terminated and,

therefore, cannot satisfy thieird causation element of higima faciecase. To the
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extent his claim is based on the complaatisut the expired permit, summary judgment
must be denied.
1. Complaints About Inappropriate Duties

In retaliation cases, for a czal relationship to exist bgeen an alleged protected
activity and an alleged adveraetion, that adverse action mistve occurred after or in
response to the protected activigee McAllister v. Queens Borough Pub. Libr&g9
F. App’x 457, 459 (2d Cir. 2009) (finding thplaintiff failed to state a claim of
retaliation because “the only adverse esgplent action... his termination... occurred
before his protected activity.”) (citinfreglia v. Town of Manlius313 F.3d 713, 719 (2d
Cir. 2002)). Section 31-51m only protectspayees who complain to public bodies.
Conn. Gen. Stat. 831-51m(b). Thus, to make#arence of causatn possible in this
case, Mr. Karagozian must demonstrate figatomplained to a public body before his
termination. See Calderon v. Dinan & Dinan PCjvil No. 3:05¢cv1341(JBA), 2006 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 39024, at * 18 (D. Conn. June 2806) (granting a motion to dismiss on
plaintiff's section 31-51m claim because sh@ not allege that “before her termination
she reported her suspicions about wrongdoing... to any public agency.”)

Mr. Karagozian was terminated on February 1, 2013 but did not complain to any
external party until March 27, 2013. All of logher complaints on this issue were purely
internal and, therefore, an®t protected by the statut&eeConn. Gen. Stat. 831-51m(b).
Accordingly, Mr. Karagozian has not met pisma facieburden, and summary judgment

must beGRANTED on this aspect of hsection 31-51m claim.
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2. Complaints About Expired Permit

To the extent Mr. Karagozian’s claimbased on his complaints about the expired
permit, Mr. Karagozian has satisfiecethirst and second elements of prama facie
burden. He complained to the Connecticup&¢ment of Public Hath, a public agency,
before he was terminated. Such a complawen if informal, is protected by section 31-
51m, because the statute protects employes‘disclose” or “report” an employer’s
illegal activities, either verbally on writing. Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§31-51m (titled
“Protection of employee who discloses eaydr’s illegal activities or unethical
practices” and providing in subsection (b) that “[n]Jo employer shall discharge, discipline
or otherwise penalize any employee becausth€lemployee... reports, verbally or in
writing, a violation or a suspectetblation of any state dederal law or regulation or
any municipal ordinance or regulation to a public bods€e also Schmidt v. Yardney
Elec. Corp.4 Conn. App. 69, 75 (1985) (noting tleatetaliatory dismissal violated
section 31-51m if it “contravened the publidipp in favor of enouraging citizens ‘to

raise the “hue and cry” and report [crim&sthe authorities.”) (citations omitted and
alteration in original)

Luxoticca argues that Mr. Karagozian canstmbw that he reported a violation of
law because its actions constituted no moaa tla technical violation.” Def.’s Br. 5.
The Court disagrees. Connecticut law requines stores that sell glasses register and
display a valid permit. Conn. Gen. Stat. §820-150(a), 20-151(a). Selling glasses in an

unregistered store constitutes anaiinfrade practice. Conn. Gen. S&®20-150(c).In

complaining that the permit expired, M¢aragozian, therefore, made a good faith

14



complaint that Connecticut law was being violat&te Arnone/9 Conn. Appat 506 -
507 (noting that complaints under section 3tR5must be made in “good faith”).

To establish a causal connection ungksstion 31-51m, Mr. Karagozian must
show that the protected action was “a mdthgfactor for employeretaliation, but not
necessarily the only factor.Fasoli,64 F. Supp. 3d at 297 n.1dee generally Gonska v.
Highland View Manor, IncNo. CV126030032S, 2014 WL 3893100, at *7 (Conn.
Super. Ct. June 26, 201d)oting that the Superi@ourt has “previously found
‘compelling reasons to believeathour state appellate courtsuld not choose to follow
the “but for” causation standard . . . in connection with . . . state . . . retaliation statutes.™)
(citation omitted). To satisfy higrima facieburden on this element, Mr. Karagozian
may rely on circumstantial evidence, sucheasporal proximity, odirect evidence of
retaliatory animusFasoli,64 F. Supp. 3dt 297 (citation omitted).

In this case, the temporal proximityteeen Mr. Karagozian's complaint to the
Connecticut Department of Public Healtidehis termination (justver two months) as
well as the comments he claims Ms. Arroyode&xplicitly expressig retaliatory intent
satisfy his burden on the third elemeBee McClain692 F. Supp. 2dt 240 (noting that
the temporal proximity of a few monthgtween plaintiff’'s complaint and her
termination “raises ‘at least a genuine issue of material fact as to whether there was a
causal connection between plaintiff's whistle-blowing activities’ and her termination.”)
(quotingRitz v. Town of East Hartford, 10 F. Supp. 2d 94, 100 (D. Conn. 20068pe
also LaFond50 F.3d at 173 (noting that the plaintiffisima facieburden on section 31-

51m claims igle minimi$ (citation omitted).
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In response, Luxoticca has provideduamber of legitimate, non-retaliatory
reasons for terminating Mr. Karagozian, inchglthat customers complained about him
and that he failed to complete required pajoek, causing a finamal loss to Luxoticca
on a sale. These contentions, if true, @on-retaliatory and legitimate reasons for
terminating someone. Thus, to survive summary judgment, Mr. Karagozian must
produce some evidence that these reasons were pretext.

“Pretext may be demonstrated either by the presentation of additional evidence
showing that “the employer’s proffereg@anation is unworthy of credence,” or by
reliance on the evidence comprising gnena facie case, without more...T’afond,50
F.3d at 174 (quotin@hambers v. TRM Copy Ctrs. Corp3 F.3d 29, 38 (2d Cir. 1994)).
He need not definitively prove that the reasarespretextual at thstage, but instead
must proffer admissible evidence that “shasugumstances that would be sufficient to
permit a rational finder of fact to infer a [retaliatory] motiveld. at 173 (quoting
Chambers43 F.3d at 38).

First, while Mr. Karagozian does not gige that the events underlying these
complaints occurred, he disagrees that tteykl have resulted in his termination. Such
a disagreement cannot satisfy Mr. Karagozdnirden of showing that the legitimate
reasons offered by Luxoticca are preteRee Young v. Pitney Bowes, IiND,
3:03CV1161(PCD), 2006 WL 726685, at *16.(©onn. Mar. 21, 2006) (“[m]erely
disagreeing with an employer’'s assessmergyven suggesting that an employer has not
been fair in its stated reasons for ternimgtin employee does not satisfy a plaintiff's
burden’ on pretext) (quotingensen v. Garlock, Inc4, F. Supp. 2d 219, 223 (W.D.N.Y.

1998)).
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Second, Mr. Karagozian argues thattext exists here bacse he testified that he
was not given any of the legitimate reasons whemwas terminated. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 3, 9.
Mr. Karagozian, however, admits that he reedithe Corrective Action Plan that lists
the reasons he was fired. Karagoziarl945:15. Although he does dispute that he
threw away the other opticians’ licenses tatemoved from the wall, Pl.’'s Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 128, he does not dispute thatauers complained about him or that he
failed to properly complete Luxoticca forms. He also does nptithghe autbnticity of
the Corrective Action Plan.

Third and finally, Mr. Karagozian args¢hat the reasons provided for
terminating him are pretext because Luxoticlezamed that he voluntarily resigned in a
document filed with the Department of Labd?l.’s Opp. Br. 3, 9. As discussed above,
there is ample record evidence, inchglMr. Karagozian’s own testimony, which
indicates he was terminated.

In any event, Mr. Karagozian has prodd evidence that Ms. Arroyo made a
comment explicitly expressing retaliatory intei@he said that he would be terminated if
he continued to “bother” Ms. Kaufman. @lbomment was made within two months of
when he was terminated. Making all infezes in Mr. Karagozian’s favor, a reasonable
juror could conclude from this comment and its timing that retaliation was a “motivating
factor” in terminating him.See LaFond50 F.3d at 175 (reversing a grant of summary
judgment on a section 31-51m claim becaussaaonable juror could conclude from the
evidence that plaintiff was terminated besaine complained to a public body, despite
the fact that defendant satedfi its burden and provided a legitimate, alternate reason for

his termination).
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Accordingly, summary judgment on traspect of Mr. Karagozian’s section 31-
51m claim, based on the complaiatsout the expired permit, must BENIED.

B. Retaliation for Engaging in Protected Speech (Count Two)

Under Connecticut law, an employer is liable for compensatory and punitive
damages as well as attorney’s fees arstiscto an employee who was disciplined or
discharged “on account of the exercise bshsemployee of rights guaranteed by the first
amendment to the United States Constitution or sections 3, 4,or 14 of article first of the
[Connecticut Constitution].”Conn. Gen. Stat. §31-5£¢To recover damages, the statute
also requires the employee to show thatpitueected speech “doest substantially or
materially interfere with the employedisna fide job performance or the working
relationship between the employee arelémployer.” Conn. Gen. Stat. 831-51¢.
Sections 3, 4, and 14 of the Connecticut @artgon “mirror” the First Amendment to
the Federal Constitution, “in that both prdtesligious liberty, freedom of speech, and
the right to assemble and petition, respectiveAdihonte v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. of
New York, Inc.959 F. Supp. 569, 577 (D. Conn. 1997).

For Mr. Karagozian’s claim under secti®h-51q to survive Luxoticca’s Motion
for Summary Judgment, he must demonstratealggnuine question fdct exists on the
following three elements: (1) that he eggd in constitutionally protected speech, (2)
that his employer took an adverse action agfaim, and (3) that there was a casual
relationship between the protectectivity and the adverse actioMcClain, 692 F.

Supp. 2d at 241 (citation omittedee also Lowe v. AmeriGas, Ing2 F. Supp. 2d 349,
359 (D. Conn. 1999) (citations omittedff'd, 208 F.3d 203 (2d Cir. 2000). As made

explicit in the statute, he rstialso show that (4) the excise of his First Amendment

* This statute applies to private employe@tto v. United Techs. Cor@51 Conn. 1, 16 (1999).

18



rights “did not substantially omaterially interfere with hibona fide job performance or
with his working relationship with his employer.Trusz v. UBS Realty Investors, LLC,
Civil No. 3:09¢cv268 (JBA), 2010 WL 1287148,*& (D. Conn. Mar. 30, 2010) (quoting
D’Angelo v. McGoldrick239 Conn. 356, 361 (1996)); Conn. Gen. Stat. 831-3H].
discussed above, if Mr. Karagozian satisfiessburden on these elements, for summary
judgment to be granted the Defendant must provide a legitimate reason for terminating
Mr. Karagozian.See Fasoli64 F. Supp. 3d at 296 n.10 (citiMpatusick,757 F.3d at 47).

Mr. Karagozian easily satigfs the second element, because he was terminated.
Luxoticca argues that the first and third eletseare not met. The Court disagrees and
finds that Mr. Karagozian has met lpisma facieburden at this stage.

On the first element, the Connecticutpgfeme Court has made clear that section
31-51q does not protect all typelsspeech and that it “should not be construed so as to
transform every dispute about working cdruatis into a constitutional questionCotto
v. United Techs. Corp251 Conn. 1, 17 (1999). “A cleargyequisite” to the statute’s
application “is that the speech at issue must be constitutionally prote&ekimann v.
Dianon Sys., Inc304 Conn. 585600 (2012) (citations omitted).

“To be protected by the First Amendmt, speech must address a matter of
public concern, and the employee’s interesbpressing himself on this matter must not
be outweighed by any injury the speechld cause’ to employee relationships.”
Emerick v. Kuhn52 Conn. App. 724, 743 (1999) (quotiaters v. Churchill511 U.S.
661, 668 (1994)). Statements of public con@mthose “that can éfairly considered
as relating to any matter of political, sociat other concern to the community.Daley

v. Aetna Life and Cas. C@49 Conn. 766, 779 (1999) (quoti@gnnick v. Myers461
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U.S. 138, 146 (1983)). A court determinesetiter speech addresse matter of public
concern by “evaluating ‘the content, form, armhtext of a given statement, as revealed
by the whole record.”ld. (quotingConnick,461 U.S. at 147-48).

The Second Circuithas indicated that an importanit not dispositive aspect of
this inquiry is the speaker’s motivéewis v. Cowerl.65 F.3d 154, 163-64 (2d Cir.
1999) (“[T]he court should focus on the motvethe speaker and attempt to determine
whether the speech was calculated to regressonal grievances or whether it had a
broader public purpose.”) (citation omitte@ousa v. Roqué78 F.3d 164, 173 (2d Cir.
2009) (“[A] speaker’s motive is not dispositiredetermining whether his or her speech
addresses a matter of public concern.”) (citation omitted). Speech on a “purely private
matter, such as an employee’s dissatisfaction with the conditions of his employment, does
not pertain to a matter of public concernSbusa578 F.3d at 173 (quotirgewis,165
F.3d at 164)accord Cotto251 Conn. at 17 (finding that the First Amendment “applies
only to expressions regardipgblic concerns that are madited by an employee’s desire
to speak out as a citizen.”).

Luxoticca argues that Mr. Karagozian'swolaints are not covered by section 31-
51q, because they related to “matters agpeal concern related to his employment,

rather than matters of public concerrDef.’s Br. 9. The Court disagre®avir.

® The Court refers to federal case law definingsibepe of the First Amendment, because Connecticut
courts have determined that the scope of the Fimendment and section 31-51q are the s&ébee.

Baldyga v. City of New Britairg54 F. Supp. 2d 268, 278 (D. Conn. 2008) (citation omitts;also

Bracey v. Bd. of Educ. of City of Bridgep@83 F.3d 108, 116 (2d Cir. 2004) (“Courts construing section
31-51q consistently look to federal First Amendment law to determine whether section 31-51q gives rise to
a cause of action.”) (collecting cases)

® The question of whether Mr. Karagjan’s complaints are addressedrtatters of public concern is a
guestion of law, which the Court magidress at this time because there isnaterial question of fact as to
the “content, form, and context of the speecBée Daley249 Conn. at 782-85 (explaining that the
determination of whether speech is protected under the First Amendment is a question oétaas tie
content, form, and context of tkpeech present questions of fact).
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Karagozian complained about violations of lamsich regulate the safety of the sale of
eyeglasses and the way optometrist officesran. These are matters of public concern.
See Trus2010 WL 1287148, at *9 (“When emplegs speak out about potentially
illegal activities of their employers that aét third parties or the community at large,
courts have held that public concears implicated.”) (collecting case&ppez v. Burris
Logistics C0.952 F. Supp. 2d 396, 407 (D. Conn. 20@R®)ting that claims of workplace
safety have been accepted as matters dfgoedincern) (citation omitted).

While Mr. Karagozian testified that he colaped about these issues for fear of
losing his license or going to jail, his amrn for his own well-being does not necessarily
indicate that his complaints were rmatdressed to matters of public conce®ee Sousa,
578 F.3d at 174 (“We make clear todaythat it does not follow that a persorotivated
by a personal grievance cannot be speakingroatter of public concern.”) (emphasis in
original); see also c.f. Emerick2 Conn. App. at 742-43 (notirigat complaints about
the way the defendant ran its business wetespeech on matters of public concern
whereas complaints about violations of/Javhich could resulin plaintiffs being
criminally prosecuted, did constituteesgzh on matters of public concern).

Mr. Karagozian also satisfies the third element. To satisfy this element, Mr.
Karagozian must show that his speech wasutastantial and motivating factor” in his
termination. DiMartino v. Richens263 Conn. 639, 670 (2003) (internal quotation marks
omitted) (quotingdd. Of Educ. v. Doy|et29 U.S. 274, 287 (1977) (involving a public
employee))Schumann v. Dianon Sys., I@04 Conn. 585, 622 n. 30 (2018ge also
Cubilla v. Town of MontvillelNo. KNLCV116010874S, 2014 WL 1565899 *@t(Conn.

Super. Ct. Mar. 18, 2014) (“‘Courts in Cauiicut have consistently held that the
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causation element of a section 31-51q claiquires that plaintiff ppve that his speech
was at least a substantial or motivatiagtbr in the adverse employment action.”)
(involving a public employee) (citation omitted).

On the forth element, section 31-51q regsithat “the employee’s right to speak
is [not] outweighed by the... employer's@nest in the effective operation of the
workplace.” Schumann304 Connat 623 (second alteration original) (quoting
Dangler v. New York City Off Track Betting Corj®3 F.3d 130, 139 (2d Cir. 1999)).
Connecticut Courts apply the balamgitest the Supreme Court set ouPiokering v.
Board of Education391 U.S. 563 (1968), to assess whether this prong has been met.
Schumann304 Connat 623. They look at the “extenf the disrugion caused by the
employee’s speech on [1] workplace discipline, [2]harmony among co-workers,
[3]working relationships, [4] th employee’s job performand®] the responsibilities of
the employee within the agency [or comppand [6] whether the speech is made
publicly or privately...” Id. at 623-24 (quotindpangler,193 F.3d at 139).

Luxoticca does not argue that Mr. Karagozeannot meet this element. It also
does not contend that his complaints interfered with his work performance. While they
had some impact on his relationship witk Bupervisors, any such impact was not
sufficient to push his speech outsmfethe ambit of section 31-51¢ee cf. Schumann,
304 Conn. at 624-26 (finding that where aipliff “stopped performing nearly 50
percent of his job responsibilities” and Bgeech was “insubordinate in nature,” it was
not entitled to constitutional protectiorsge also cf. Connick v. Meyed$1 U.S. 138,

154 (1983) (speech that “touched upon matters of public concern in only a most limited

sense” and that disrupted the office aedtroyed working relationships was not
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protected by the First Amendment and, therefcould not form the basis for a First
Amendment retaliation claim by a public employee).

Accordingly, Mr. Karagozian has met lpema facieburden. Luxoticca has
provided non-retaliatory, legitimate reasonsHis termination noted above—namely that
he was the subject of customer complaimi$ failed to comply with company policy. It
argues that these legitimate reasons wathengjrant of summary judgment, apparently
relying on theMcDonnell Douglagpretext framework as it did for Mr. Karagozian’s
section 31-51m claim. Def.’s Br. 11-14.

Luxoticca does not specifically invoke tlefense that exists in First Amendment
law undemMount Healthy. See Mt. Healthy CBgh. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. Doy#29
U.S. 274, 286-87 (1977) (reasog that an employee should not be able to avoid
termination by engaging in protected condeegn if that conduglays a “substantial
part” in the employer’s decision regarditige adverse employment action). Under
Mount Healthyjf the defendant can show thHa would have taken the adverse
employment action, even the absence of plaintiffgrotected conduct, summary
judgment is warrantedSee Smith v. Cty. of Suffol6 F.3d 114, 119 (2d Cir. 2015);
see also Anemone v. Metro. Transp. AWBR9 F.3d 97, 115 (2d Cir. 201()The
constitutional principle at stake, [i.e., fokmm from retaliation foprotected speech,] is
sufficiently vindicated if such an employeepisced in no worse a position than if he had
not engaged in the pextted conduct.”) (quotiniit. Healthy,429 U.S. at 285-86)
(alteration in original). Prekt has no place in the analys8ee Deep v. Coid53 F.

App’x 49, 55 (2d Cir. 2011). Some Conneuaticourts have applied the defense to
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claims under section 31-51q against private employ®e® e.g., Konspore v. Friends of
Animals, Inc.No. 3:10cv613(MRK), 2012 WL 965527, 1 (D. Conn. Mar. 20, 2012).

Under either standard, summary judginemnot be granted. For the reasons
discussed above under seant31-51m, Mr. Karagozian has produced evidence from
which a reasonable juror could infer thag #o-called “legitimate” reasons Luxoticca has
provided for his termination were pretextuxoticca also has faile satisfy its burden
underMount Healthy as the record evidence raisgsinference that Mr. Karagozian
would not have been terminated ifim@d not engaged in protected condugee Smith,
776 F.3d at 125 (“[sjummary judgment isspluded where questions regarding an
employer’s motive predominate in the inquiegarding how important a role the
protected speech played in the adeeemployment decision.””) (quotirgorris v.
Lindau,196 F.3d 102, 110 (2d Cir. 1999)). Accordingly, summary judgment must be
DENIED on Mr. Karagozian’s section 31-51q claim.

V. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, thef@®ant’s Motion foiSummary Judgment,
ECF No. 46, iISSRANTED on the portion of the section 31-51m claim based on Mr.
Karagozian’s complaints about performing dsités the optometrist'assistant, rather
than an optician. Summary judgmenDENIED with respect to Mr. Karagozian’s
remaining claims.

SO ORDERED this 23rd day of November 28kt Bridgeport, Connecticut.

/sl Victor A. Bolden
Victor A. Bolden
UnitedStateDistrict Judge
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